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Chapter 1

Formation of a Foresters’ Braƒs Band

The Band was formed on the 31st of January 31st, 1889, as the High Barnet Foresters’
Brass Band by the Court Pride of Barnet Foresters. From the beginning, the band’s
committee kept records of the band’s activities and most of the minute books of the band

committee are available, right from the band’s foundation to the present day, the only gap being
of the Second World War years, 1940-44.

At the first meeting, the Secretary was instructed to write to ‘instrumental gentlemen’ to find
out what the cost of one hour’s instruction would be for two nights per week, the proposed band
to be made up of fifteen or more bandsmen. The Secretary wrote to five people, two of whom
quoted 3/- (three shillings or 15p.) per night and the others 4/- (20p.) and 5/- (25p.). A
Corporal Yeomans of the 7th Kings Royal Rifles was one who quoted 3/- and it was proposed
that he be appointed.
On February 22nd, it was agreed to print 400 circulars to advertise the band and a committee
was set up to formulate the rules. Early meetings seem to have taken place at The Green Man
Pub, 143 High Street but later meetings alternated between the Green Man and the Star Tavern,
108 High Street.



The Opening Entry from the Band’s Minutes on 31st January 1889
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On March 9th 1889, the list of instruments to be purchased, shown below, was drawn up.

Chapter 1: Formation of a Foresters’ Band

It is interesting to note that the instruments which are now referred to as tenor horns were
referred, in this list as sax-horns and that the two instruments termed slide horns were,
presumably trombones. It is also interesting to look at the relative prices of the instruments
with a pair of cymbals costing more than any of the cornets and pretty much the same as the
saxhorns. It’s not recorded what make of instruments were subsequently purchased but they
may have been Lafleur as a minute of March 1898 speaks of the Lafleur agent seeking ‘further
business’.

At that stage of its development, the band had little in the way of funds, the records showing a
sum of £4-17-11 (£4.90) in the kitty. Brother Emm stepped in, therefore, and agreed to pay for
the instruments, on the understanding that they remained his property until paid for in full by
the band. It is not too clear where these funds had come from but some 5/6 (27p.) is shown as
coming from subscriptions.

Mr. Arthur Emm was the Chairman of the band at the time of its formation and Mr. Frank
Wise Vice·chairman. Corporal Yeomans, of the 7th K.R.R., was elected the first Conductor of
the Band.

The List of Proposed Instruments for the Start of the Band
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While Corporal Yeomans was appointed as the band’s first Musical Director at the Committee
Meeting on February 7th 1889, his appointment was not unopposed (see below).

A Section of the Band Minutes at which Corporal Yeomans was Elected
Musical Director
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It was decided that practice nights would be Mondays and Fridays and the first of these was
held on Monday 15th March 1889. In some accounts of the band’s early days, it is stated that
the band's first engagement was at The Green Man on March 18th 1889 but this seems
unlikely. By the end of that month, the band had an appointed a ‘Captain’. It’s not clear what
his duties were but they may well have included the policing of attendance, as one of the
early rules stated that presence at every practice was a condition of band membership and
that members who failed to attend would be fined.

In March 1889, the band was able to repay the sum of £8 to Mr Emm, as a first instalment
of the debt owing to him.

On May 21st, it was suggested that the Loyal Wrotham Lodge of Oddfellows were about to
form a brass band and they were contacted to see if they wished to combine forces. Clearly,
this amalgamation was approved and the band was renamed on June 14th as the Amalga-
mated Brass Band, Foresters and Oddfellows. Also at that time, rules were made to ensure
that both organisations had equal representation among the band’s players.

A source of income for the band was from contribution boxes which had been placed in The
Green Man, The Prussia, The Salisbury, The Star Tavern, The Edinburgh Castle, The Crown
and Anchor, The Black Horse, The Albion, The Queens Arms, The White Hart, The Two
Brewers and The Three Elms.

In July, when these were opened, the sum of £2-5-6 (£2.26) had been collected. At that time,
the bandmaster was instructed to purchase an ‘E-flat bass instrument’ for 85/- (£4-5-0,
£4.25).
Early attendances at band practice were clearly a problem as, by August, members were
being written to asking them to return their instruments as they had not been attending
practice.

It appears that the band may have made its first tentative performance by October as, at the
committee meeting of 31st October 1889, a vote of thanks was sent to ‘the band and band-
master for their very creditable performance at the Foresters’ Dinner on Tuesday 29th

October’.

As the nights got darker, the committee turned its attention to lighting and decided to get
ten lamps made – no street lighting in those days. By January, the order had been increased
to eighteen lamps at 15/- (75p.) per dozen.

The collecting boxes raised 20/10 (£1.05).

In February 1890, a further sum of five pounds was paid off from the instrument loan account.

By the 24th March, the band’s first concert had raised £10 and a further £10-10-0 (£10.50)
was paid to Mr Emm and the spending of 10/- (50p.) on music was approved.

The first paid engagement was mooted when the band was asked to play at a demonstration
in East Barnet on the 12th July 1890 and the sum of £6-0-0 (£6.00) was quoted for 20
players, giving an indication of the size of the band at that time.
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Collection Boxes raised 15/9½ (77p.)

About this time, the first instrument repairs were mentioned and a new mouthpiece purchased.
Mention of the band appearing ‘in uniform’ was made in August but no references had been
made to uniforms prior to this.

At the beginning of September, the band appears to have developed an identity separate from
its founders, the Foresters. It refused to play at their church parade for less than 50/- (£2.50).
Clearly, this caused some disgruntlement as the committee immediately fired the bandmaster,
Corporal Yeomans. The committee met the band at the Green Man ‘Court Room’ and, following
this meeting, rescinded the sacking.

At the meeting where this was decided, the committee opened up the band to all comers,
provided they were ‘respectable’. The band’s name remained unchanged.

By October, there were three vacancies in the band and an advert was placed in The Barnet
Press for new members.

Stands and lamps still seemed  to be occupying the committee by December, and a member of
the committee was asked to get samples ‘from London’ in order for the committee to approve
them for purchase. At this time, Barnet was separated from London by countryside but had
good connections over the ten miles or so from the coach service. As a staging post along the
Great North Way, some 150 stage coaches per day passed through the town.

On March 6th, 1895, Corporal Yeomans seems to have finally vacated his post and George
Byford was appointed Conductor of the Band at a salary of 3s (15p.) per week. He was to hold
this position until 1907.

The first contest that the band attended was at Hitchin, on Whit Monday, 1897 the test pieces
being the Selection Cinq Mars and the march Collingwood. It’s not known how the band got
on in this contest but the two pieces were included in the programme for the 1939 Golden
Jubilee concert.

On May 4th 1892, in a long entry in the minutes which discussed a series of rule changes, a
reference was made to ‘the new name of the band’ but no indication was given of what that
name was. It was not until January 13th 1893 that an entry appears headed ‘Barnet Town Band’
and this is reflected on a receipt for the printing of 20 circulars by Barnet's Steam Printer, E. S.
Wheatley, which was issued in 1899.
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In March 1898, the committee set about obtaining a new set of Higham instruments through
the medium Charles E Foot of 4 Soho Street, London, W.

The instruments to be purchased are shown on the following table.

In May 1893, the committee agreed a move of rehearsals to Christ Church Schools at a fee of 2
guineas (£2-2-0, £2.10) per year, plus 6D (2½p.) per night for the caretaker. Rehearsals were
set for every Monday and Friday, the final rehearsal at The Green Man taking place on Friday
26th May 1893 and the first one at Christ Church Schools on Monday 29th May 1893. Because
of the pecuniary state of the band, the move was only made possible by Mr Emm’s contribution
of £2 towards the rent.



A Receipt for the Printing of Circulars made out to The Barnet Town Band
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No. Off Instrument Serial No.
Cost

£ s d

1 E-Flat Soprano Cornet 50408 8 8 0

6 B-Flat Cornets 50536, 50538, 50560,
50561, 50564, 50566

3 B-Flat Flugel Horns 50605, 50606, 50475 25 4 0
3 E-Flat Tenor Horns 50275, 50461, 50462 28 7 0
2 B-Flat Baritones 50029, 50270 23 2 0

1 B-Flat Euphonium, 4 valves 50324 14 14 0

1 B-Flat Euphoniun, 3 Valves 50187 12 12 0

2 B-Flat Slide Trombones 50416, 50417 14 14 0

1 G Bass Trombone 50422 8 8 0
2 E-Flat Bombardons 50191, 50193 31 10 0
1 BB-Flat Monster 50628 26 0 0

Total 269 13 0
Discount 53 18 0

Cash on Account 25 0 0
Final Total 190 15 0
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Presentation of the New Instruments
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On completion of the three-year period, the band would be able to continue to hire the instru-
ments and, on having paid the sum of £162 by instalments, would be able to pay a final sum of
£23/15- (£23.75) and, thereupon, take ownership of the instruments. The deal was agreed by
the committee. A further £5 was to be paid on receipt of the goods.

A dinner was held at the Star on April 18th 1898 at which the new instruments were to be
presented. Tickets for the dinner were sold at 3/- (15p.) each, a report of the dinner appearing
in The Barnet Press.

A representative of Highams of Strangeways, Manchester, attended the committee meeting of
March 11th 1898 to present the deal to the band. Under this, the band would rent 24 instru-
ments from Highams for three years with a deposit of £30, followed by payments at the rate of
£6 per month, starting on the 30th of April 1898.
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Soon after this the Band started winning prizes, capturing the First Prize at the Fulham
Contest of that year. That was also the year in which the London and Home Counties Amateur
Bands Association was formed and Barnet Town Band was one of its founder members.

During the South African War (1899-1902), a number of concerts were given for war charities.
At that time, the Brothers Starbuck were prominent members of the band, one as Secretary
and the other as solo euphonium. Mr. A. Starbuck, who won many medals for his playing was
still a member of the Committee at the time of the Golden Jubilee Concert in 1939 and
conducted one of the pieces on the programme.

Prior to 1902, the band had been giving regular Sunday concerts but discontinued these at
the request of the players. However, these had clearly been vital sources of funding as they
were resumed in order to alleviate the band’s financial distress. Concerts were mainly held
outdoors in the Ravenscroft Park Recreation Ground; but also in Dr. Boyes’ garden and the
Boys’ Grammar School Playing Field.

In 1905, the band is recorded as attending the football matches of the Barnet Alston F.C. at
Underhill and, in the same year, the first set of uniforms was purchased. These uniforms
were made by Mr. Wynne, the Barnet tailor.

At this time, prizes were regularly being won by the Band, many individual members also
winning medals. In 1905, the Band started playing on Hadley Green and in the High Sreet,
Barnet, and these programmes were continued each summer until the 1930s when the traffic
problem became so acute that it was dangerous to perform in the High Street.

Mr. Byford left the Band in 1907 and his position as Resident Conductor was taken by Mr. T.
A. Cheek. The band did, however, still contain a Mr Byford as the minutes of May 1907
report: ‘As Mr Byford has outgrown his uniform, it was resolved to allow him ten shillings
(50p.) for his old uniform, provided it is in good condition and give him permission to have
a new one on the usual terms’. Even today the band needs to consider the delicate matter of
the size of its players. As this version of the history is being written, the committee is
grappling with the task of allocating a size 52” (132cm) band jumper, after a player left the
band and handed this back. One suggestion was to recruit two small players who played the
same instrument and, At this time, a considerable amount of professional tuition was given
the band by Mr. T. Ogden, a well-known Luton professional trainer, with very good results,
as the many contests prizes won in that period attest.

At this time, the band appears to have played a very-different role in member’s lives. At the
end of 1928, when one of its members died, the committee designated one of its regular
Sunday Concerts at the Barnet Cinema as being on behalf of the member’s widow. The
concert made a profit of £42-10-0 (£42.50) and the committee decided to pay this to the
widow at the rate of 15/- (75p.) per week.

Chapter 1: Formation of a Foresters’ Band
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Barnet Town Prize Band in 1907

At this time, a considerable amount of professional tuition was given the band by Mr. T.
Ogden, a well-known Luton professional trainer, with very good results, as the many
contest prizes won in that period attest.

Mr. Cheek, who had started his musical career playing as a beginner in the Band, was very
successful as its conductor from 1908 to 1930, with the exception of the Great War period,
when he was in the Army. During the early part of his tenure, the band was meeting at The
Mitre Pub.

In 1930, Mr. Fred Dimmock, F.N.C.M., was appointed Professional Conductor to the Band, and Mr.
J. D. Kenny was appointed Resident Conductor in 1932. The latter was another promotion of a
member who had joined the Band as a beginner. Under the training of Mr. Dimmock, ably assisted
by Mr. Kenny, the Band gained outstanding awards: in the East Ham Contest, two first prizes; at
Paddington, two first prizes; Lewisham, first prize; Walthamstow, first prize. Needless to say, these
prizes were won against some of the finest bands in the South of England. As had become the
tradition, two of the test pieces of the two East Ham Contests, Songs Without Words and Northern
Rhapsody, were played at the Golden Jubilee Concert.

The band entered smaller groups in contests as well as the entire band and the photo below shows
a quintet, along with their prize. By the time of this photo, the cap of the uniform had been
changed although the cuffs still bore their braiding.
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Barnet Town Prize Band in 1910

In 1911, a new set of silver-plated instruments was purchased but no details of these are
forthcoming from the minutes.

During the Great War ,Mr. A. R. Whitfield conducted the Band, being ably supported by Mr.
J. D. Kenny and Mr. J. Richards and, together, they enabled the band to carry on throughout
the war. During this period, the Band assisted the Volunteer Training Corps on their marches
and parades and gave concerts at the military hospitals. Special Concerts were also given in
Barnet Cinema and, in two of these, they were supported by Mr. Douglas Furber’s, then-
famous, Glad Eyes Concert Party. Two pieces, A Soldier’s Life and A Sailor’s Life were very
popular band items at these concerts and a Mr. Whitfield conducted the latter piece at the
Golden Jubilee Concert.

While the Band won many prizes under Mr. Cheek, 1909 year stands out as the most
successful, as, after winning 2nd Prize at Bromley and 1st Prize at Dartford, the crowning
glory of that year was undoubtedly the First Prize at Crystal Palace at the Association
Contest. The test piece of that contest was also included in the 1939 Golden Jubilee
Concert, being conducted by Mr. Cheek.
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A Postcard from around 1920

Above is a postcard which came from Jack Kenny’s archive. It is not dated but inscribed
on the rear as shown below:

The Rear of the Above Postcard
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What has not been reproduced on this image is the name of the printer, W. Redland & Son,
New Barnet. I was unable to find any trace of this company but the container for the stamp
called for a half-penny stamp for inland postage. This rate was increased in 1918, thus dating
the postcard to sometime before this date. As it was in the archive received from Mr Kenny’s
wife, it is likely to date from after he joined the band in 1907.

Another postcard, probably of the same date ,shows a cornet player posing in his band uni-
form. While this seems most likely to be the same player as in the quintet, he has gained
himself three medals since the earlier photograph.

A Pre-First World War Cornetist of The Barnet Town Band





w ith the return of members after the War the band resumed its activities in the life of
the Town, started "contesting" again, and was soon adding further prizes to its long
list.

The band played at the unveiling of the town War Memorial in 1921, and each year until the Sec-
ond World War, provided the music at the Remembrance Sunday Service. The band can be seen
at the bottom left in the photo overleaf during the opening ceremony.

The band was also present at the opening of The Old Court House Recreation Grounds in 1926
and, for a few years, gave a number of concerts in these Grounds. Unfortunately, the income
from these concerts was very poor, and so they had to be discontinued.

Chapter 2

After the War to End all Wars
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The Consecration of Barnet War Memorial with the Barnet Town Band in Attendance

Financing of the band was by contributions from rich donors but also from collections taken
at concerts. These were used for band expenses such as uniforms and instruments. It was the
tradition at that time for a band to own all the instruments and to lend them out to band
members. This is described in the receipt for the loan of a band cornet by Alfred Richards in
1921, a time when the band was known as The Barnet Town Silver Prize Band.

Massed bands performances were arranged with St. Albans British Legion Band, and also
Wood Green Excelsior and on another occasion three Hertfordshire Bands, St. Albans City,
Welwyn Garden City, and the Barnet band, combined for double performances for the Durham
Distress Fund. These performances were very successful and popular.

The band had operated a junior band for many years and this gave its own concerts, one of
these being recorded as having taken place on Monday 30th January 1938. However, starting
in the first week of October 1928, the committee decided to introduce an additional new
beginners’ band. This was run on Monday evenings with the other junior band running on
Wednesday evenings. The committee approved the expenditure of £20 on new instruments to
enable the new class to be run.



A Bandsman’s Receipt for his Band Instrument

Bands of this period could not rely upon working-class bandsmen to have access to instru-
mental tuition and were, thus, important vehicles for musical education among working-class
people. Even in the 1950s, when I started to play, this was still the case and I went along to
Shirland Miners’ Welfare Band, having no musical experience and no knowledge of playing a
cornet. The band lent me a cornet and the bandmaster taught me to play.

In 1924, the Barnet Town Band uniform still retained the double row of buttons as shown on
the postcard below.
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At this time, the band appears to have played a very-different role in members’ lives. At the
end of 1928, when one of its members died, the committee designated one of its regular Sun-
day Concerts at the Barnet Cinema as being on behalf of the member’s widow. The concert

A Postcard of the Band in 1924: Source Jack Kenny Archive

This postcard highlights how communications have changed, as it was used by Rupert Gale in
Barnet to communicate with JD Kenny in Finchley. It was probably posted late on Tuesday, to
be picked up on Wednesday morning and delivered on Thursday to confirm a meeting on
Friday. No mobiles, twitter or texts then!

 Postcard from Rupert Gale to Jack Kenny in 1924

A Brief History of The Barnet Band
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made a profit of £42-10-0 (£42.50) and the committee decided to pay this to the widow at the
rate of 15/- per week.
On February 12th 1929, a resolution was put to the Band General Meeting that the name of the
band would be The Barnet Town band. This was agreed.

At this same meeting, it was also decided that 50% of the ‘Football Collections be divided
amongst those members attending matches’. The band played regularly, at that time, at Barnet
FC matches and took a collection at these.

In 1930, Mr. Fred Dimmock, F.N.C.M., was appointed Professional Conductor to the Band, and
Mr. J. D. Kenny was appointed Resident Conductor in 1932. The latter was another promotion
of a member who had joined the Band as a beginner. Under the training of Mr. Dimmock, ably
assisted by Mr. Kenny, the Band gained outstanding awards: in the East Ham Contest, two first
prizes; at Paddington, two first prizes; Lewisham, first prize; Walthamstow, first prize. Need-
less to say, these prizes were won against some of the finest bands in the South of England. As
had become the tradition, two of the test pieces of the two East Ham Contests, Songs Without
Words and Northern Rhapsody, were played at the Golden Jubilee Concert.

The band entered smaller groups in contests as well as the entire band and the photo below
shows a quintet, along with their prize. By the time of this photo, the cap of the uniform had
been changed although the cuffs still bore their braiding.

Part of The Barnet Town Band around 1930

Chapter 2: After the War to End All Wars
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We know of the whereabouts of only one cup from those heady days of competition glory and
that is from the 2nd of August 1921 when the band won first prize at the High Wycombe Band
Contest.

The Annotation on the Cup for the First Prize at the High Wycombe Band Contest

Just where the other prizes are can only be guessed at but the undated overleaf below shows
some of the many trophies collected by the band.

A Brief History of The Barnet Band
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A Collection of the Trophies Won by the Band: Source Jack Kenny Archive

The Band in a more-informal setting in the 1930s: Source Jack Kenny Archive

Chapter 2: After the War to End All Wars
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At the end of 1937, Mr. Kenny found it necessary to resign his position as Conductor, but
continued on the Committee and to play in the band. In 1938, the band found itself in financial
straits and several proposals were made for raising cash. One of these was for the running of
competitions which, it was considered, should raise £65 per annum. Mention is also made in
the minutes of the band’s Christmas Draw and the Derby and St Ledger Draws, all of which
appear to have been running for some time and were clearly a source of income.

However, bandsmen also received a ‘bonus’ at that time and the committee decided that, were
the target of £65 not to be raised, the shortfall would be recovered from the bandsmen’s
bonuses. For the year of 1939, this bonus amounted to £1 per member.

Mr. Arthur Irons, L.G.S.M., A.T.C.L. took over as Resident Conductor, coming from the
Tottenham Borough Band. He was supported by Mr. J. Coleman as Deputy Conductor and
Junior Band Instructor. Mr. F. Dimmock, F.N.C.M. continued to act as the band’s Professional
Conductor.

At this time, the Band was engaged by the Regal and Zonophone Gramophone Record Compa-
ny to play with the famous St. Hilda CollieryBand and other Bands to make records of The 1812
Overture and eight marches. Amongst these marches was Under the Banner of Victory, which
Mr. J Coleman conducted during the Golden Jubilee Concert, part of the programme of which
is shown overleaf.

Very shortly after this concert, the band’s Resident Conductor, Mr Irons, resigned, having
taken up a similar, but presumably better-paid, position at the Crystal Palace Band. At that
time, the committee advertised in the Barnet Press, the Finchley Press and the British Bands-
man for a new conductor.

A Brief History of The Barnet Band
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Programme for the Golden Jubilee Concert of 1939

Very shortly after this concert, the band’s Resident Conductor, Mr Irons, resigned, having
taken up a similar, but presumably better-paid, position at the Crystal Palace Band. At that
time, the committee advertised in the Barnet Press, The Finchley Press and the British
Bandsman for a new conductor.

Chapter 2: After the War to End All Wars
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In the years up to the Second World war, the band looked to council engagements outside
Barnet for funding and was regularly engaged by the London County Council, Wembley and
Leyton Borough Councils, and Enfield Urban District Council.

In 1938, the band’s total income was £408-19-9 (£408.99p.), of which £209-13-0 (£203.65p.)
came from engagements and £13-1-3 (£13.6p.) from competitions which had cost £4-5-6
(£4.26p.) in entry fees. Tuition had cost £54-1-6 (£54.6p.) and room hire £26-4-10 £26.22p.)
with engagement expenses costing £60-11-0 £60.55p.).

In the Golden Jubilee Concert programme, many of the earlier members were thanked,
among them, Mr. J. J. Roads, who gave 35 years of his life to the band. He was outstanding as
a cornet player and great-hearted as a man. Shortly after playing The Lost Chord as a cornet
solo in the Old Court House Recreation Ground, he lost consciousness and died the next day.

The largest gap in the minute books occurs directly after this Jubilee Concert, between 20th

April 1939 and 18th February 1940. At this latter meeting, the question of suspending the band
was raised, because of ‘the peculiar times under which the meeting was being held’. It was
decided to suspend the rules for a period and to restrict meetings to Friday evenings. Mention
is also made in the minutes of the Benevolent Fund, the imposition of a minimum subscrip-
tion of 2p. per week and its extension to members serving in the armed forces.

In December 1939, the band dedicated its income from playing carols to the Bandsmen’s
Memorial Fund and a cheque for £15 was sent to the fund.

A Brief History of The Barnet Band

24

What was Played at the Jubilee Concert of 1939



During World War II, the band had continued but clearly in a very-reduced form. On
Thursday 31st May 1945, a meeting was called in the Jellicoe Hall, Moxon Street,
Barnet. An extract from the minutes is given below:

The meeting was called to place the organisation on a proper footing. The secretary
gave a general outline of the position of the band throughout the period [of the war]
so far as the Band Membership was concerned also the general financial position.

Twenty members had joined the forces, of the others, Norman Burton had been play-
ing with De Havilands, J Baker and Norman Burton with Enfield Central. S Acker-
man was with the N&S and J Flashman (?) with the ARP.

Mr JD Kenny and Les Parsonage had been the Trojans with the Beginners, starting
with the ATC Boys & afterwards with our own class which was proving much more
successful. J Wakefield also one of the Beginners had also considerably assisted.

The Band had suffered severe loss by the death of Mr J.S. Southam and Mr F Hunt.
The Headquarters had changed the management twice & the rent of the practice room had
been reduced by Mr Pope owing to the Band’s thin financial position.

…When the war started the band was in debt to the extent of £89-12-0 (£89.60) but at
present had a credit balance of £493-17-7 (£493.89) at Bank. This had been brought about
by the energies of a few of the members, particularly so Mr J. Reed who had done marvels
in this respect.

As well as the losses in the war, one member, Harry Hodgkins was in a military hospital
suffering from TB.

Chapter 3

After the Second Great War



This was the band’s situation after the war, moderately okay financially but severely depleted
in playing members as many of those who had served in the armed forces were not to be
demobbed for some time. Nevertheless, at the end of the war, the band joined in the celebra-
tions, marching from East Barnet War memorial to New Barnet War memorial to celebrate VE
Day and then marching up the hill from the Barnet Odeon to Christ Church in Barnet to
celebrate VJ Day.

In September 1945, the band committee’s attention was turned to rebuilding the band and it
advertised for four beginners, to add to the two already in classes. At this time, the bass drum
was sold for £5 and a search put out for music stands.

The committee dealt with many issues which have long since disappeared from the modern
agenda, such as in November 1945 when the secretary was given permission to purchase coal
and logs. At the same time, the council was approached to seek permission for the band to
rehearse in the Council Chamber on one evening in December, January, February and March.
This request was subsequently granted.

Repercussions from the war continued long after the cessation of hostilities and, one year
later, the band still had four members serving in the armed forces. Accommodation continued
to be a problem and, in 1946, the band was still actively looking for a new band room. At this
time, it also told Barnet Urban District Council (UDC) that it was no longer keen to play in the
Old Court House Grounds for Box Collections and sought a new arrangement. The committee
offered the band’s services for a fee of 8 guineas (£8-8-0, £8.40) per performance but added
that they would not be able to play in uniform because of clothes rationing.

The UDC responded by asking the band to play  each Thursday evening in August at that rate.

The conditions in the aftermath of the war were highlighted when the band advertised for a
new conductor and forty five people applied.

The band was able to purchase new uniforms in March 1947, ordering these from the Army
and Navy Supply Stores. However, when these were received, the committee felt that these
were a bit dull and ordered an investigation into the possibility of putting some red material
behind the badges in order to jolly them up somewhat.

In October, the committee considered forming a ‘Ladies Committee to arrange various items
for mutual advantage’. It was felt too weighty a matter to decide outside a general meeting.
Needless to say, a Ladies Committee was formed and in the following month, it was reported
that they were to run a series of whist drives. These were obviously successful as they raised
the sum of £20 over the coming months.

A Brief History of The Barnet Band
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The Barnet Band in September 1948: Resplendent in their New Uniforms

After being members since its inception, the band committee voted in November 1947 to
leave the London Home Counties Amateur Bands Association. This followed a long-
running dispute when players who were registered with the association as playing with
Barnet Band played for the Enfield Band. Matters became heated when one of these
played in a contest which the band won. Barnet Town Band objected and the player was
suspended. On appealing his suspension, the player was let off and Barnet Town Band
was up in arms. When the association offered no acceptable explanation for their behav-
iour, the band committee voted on the 5th of November 1947 to leave the association.

The Band in the Late 40s with its First Female Member
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In 1948, when a new conductor was sought, the post was offered to a Mr Stanyon, Deputy
Conductor of Luton Band. That band was approached and they agreed to the move and Mr
Stanyon was offered £50 p.a., plus travelling expenses, one month’s notice and two weeks
holidays. He accepted.

The problem of rehearsal space for the Junior Band was solved in December 1948 when
Hertfordshire County Council offered space in Byng Road School, starting on the second
Wednesday in January. At the same time, The British Legion agreed to giving the band use of
the Jellicoe Hall each Monday and Thursday at a cost of 10/- (50p.) per week.

The band acquired its first Chaplain in February 1949 when the Rev. W.R. Farrer was appoint-
ed to this post.

1949 saw the Diamond Jubilee of the band and, to help it celebrate the occasion, it invited two
other bands from St Albams and Watford to join in two Massed Band Concerts in The Old
Court House Recreation Grounds.

In the programme for that event, it was reported:

Excerpts from the Concert Programme of the Diamond Jubilee Concert in 1949

The front of the programme and the actual running order of the two performances are shown
overleaf.
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Front Cover of the Concert Programme of the Diamond Jubilee Concert in 1949
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Afternoon Programme of the Diamond Jubilee Concert in 1949
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EveningProgramme of the Diamond Jubilee Concert in 1949
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With the band having
won so many prizes
over the years, it’s un-
fortunate that the only
prize which survives is
that from the High
Wycombe Contest in
1921. The only other
prize that can be iden-
tified, from a photo-
graph, is that from the
First Prize of the Man-
chester Section 3, Dai-
ly Herald Contest in
1953. It is shown be-
low in the hands of RS

Rupert Gale Holding the Cup for the First prize at the Daily Herald
Contest (Date unknown): Source Jack Kenny Archive

Overleaf is a newspaper report of the win which gives the names of all the winning players.

Rupert Gale Receiving the Cup for the First prize at the
Daily Herald Contest (Date unknown): Source Jack Kenny

Archive

This win clearly had a bit of a
sting in the tail as 1954 saw Bar-
net Town Band in Section 2 of
the championships: effectively
the top section for amateur
bands.

One of the features of the band’s
social life in the 1950s was the
annual outing and, in 1957, this
took place on Sunday 15th Sep-
tember, by train, to Folkestone.
The minutes of the 4th of October
reported that this was a success
and hoped that it wouldn’t be the
last. In the following spring, the
band held a social on Saturday
18th January in the Jellicoe Hall
on Moxon Street.
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Information about the day-to-day activities of the band
comes from a variety of sources, one of these being an
article published in the Barnet Press of Friday 19th Sep-
tember 1969, in a series entitled, “What Can I Join” and
the headline: BARNET BAND IS STILL BLOWING
STRONG AFTER 80 YEARS. The the article is shown
overleaf but the accompanying photograph could not be
reproduced to an adequate standard.
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Around that time, the fees for band engagement seems to have varied enormously, being
basically what they could get out of the promoter. Many concerts appear to have been given for
under ten pounds, but for an engagement at Fulham, for the local authority, they quoted £21.
For an earlier event, a service for the Friendly Society, the band received three guineas (£3-3-0,
£3.15). At that time, the band was paying ten shillings (50p.) per week for its room at The Mitre.

In 1969, Rupert Gale wrote an article for The Conductor, a journal for brass band conductors
which is reproduced overleaf.
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In 1979, Mr Kevin Morgan, the Band's Musical Director, formerly a cornet player with the Band
of the Scots Guards, changed the band's name to The Barnet Band - its present-day name.
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Kevin Morgan left the Band in 1983 to take up a teaching post in New Zealand and the
membership of the band fell to the extent that it was not possible to stage a viable
performance.

Mr Denis Collings was then appointed as its Musical Director and it was under his dedicated
leadership that it transformed itself into a wind band of some 30 players. This change was
much more than skin deep and the band changed from being a competition band to a commu-
nity wind band.

Among the many things that Denis did was to design a logo for the band. As a heraldic artist,
he was well placed to create a logo which reflected the history of the area in which the band
existed. As Barnet was one of the sites of a critical battle in the English Civil War, he adopted
the symbolism of the red and white roses of the houses of York and Lancaster, incorporating
both of these into the centre of his design. The picture overleaf shows the prototype of the logo
designed by Denis.

Chapter 4
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The Prototype Barnet Band Logo Designed by Denis Collings

Apart from a few slight changes made when I converted this into a digital format a few years
after Denis retired, the logo remains the image of the present-day Barnet Band and a fitting
tribute to Denis’ efforts.

Denis Conducting at Hadley Church in 1988
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The new band set out to entertain its audience and to enjoy doing so. Along with this change
came a policy of no auditions and a willingness to accept anyone in the community who could
play and was willing to learn and improve. Denis retired in 1998 when he and his wife moved
to Devon.

The band celebrated its centenary in this year with a concert followed by a Centenary Dinner
which was organised by Kate Worms, one of the band's members. This was attended by over
100 members and band supporters, an indication of the scale of the renaissance of the Band.

The band’s new logo was incorporated into a banner to grace the player’s music stands and
these were created beautifully by Shirley Deed, one of the bands players and, for many years,
its Secretary.

The Present-Day Banner of the Barnet Band

Jean Cottrell took over as Musical Director in 1998 and under her leadership, the band
consolidated its strength and she oversaw the formation of a marching band to play for the
annual Barnet British Legion Remembrance Day Parade. This re-instated the band's tradition
of playing for this event which it had done from the end of the second world war until the late
60s.
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When Jean left, in 2000, the baton was taken by Chris McGinity who had joined the band in
1999 and rose rapidly from second trombone to Musical Director. Chris brought considerable
insight to the role and was very ambitious on the band's behalf, entering the band in the Wind
Band Competition at Kneller Hall. From three pieces played, the band gained a silver award
(All in an April Evening) and a bronze award (Folk Song Suite).

A New Conductor Takes the Reins

The bronze award
shown below serves
as a reminder that
competition was not
to everyone's taste
and, for the path to
have been pursued, it
would have meant a
change of direction in
recruitment as well as
a reconsideration of
the membership of
some band members.

The Bronze Award
from the Kneller Hall

Event
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It seems fitting that the silver award was
lost during a move of rehearsal room at
short notice and, when changes to the
band rules were proposed at the AGM in
March 2001, the matter threatened to
split the band. The changes were never
put to the meeting, however, as the Direc-
tor’s saddle became empty only minutes
before the meeting opened.
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Although not a horseman, Dave Payne stepped into the saddle and conducted the band over
the next two years. Unfortunately (only for the band), he decided to follow his heart and left
for the Isle of Arran - a dramatic change of life style for a born-and-bred Londoner. Sad to see
him go, the band nevertheless bade him a great farewell.

In 2002, the Band held its first day of children's workshops, having received a £1500 grant to
fund this from The National Federation of Music Societies. On this day, over 200 children
crowded into Grahame Park School and took part in workshops on brass, woodwind, percus-
sion, guitar and steel drums. After the workshop, the band gave a brief performance. The
challenge that day was thought to be the World Cup match but it turned out to be the guitarist
who had been hired to do the guitar workshops. He sauntered in two hours late, spouting
nonsense, each utterance of which ended with ‘Chill out man!’ Much diplomacy by band
members averted a mutiny and the children appeared to leave the school happy with what they
had experienced. The organisers left muttering ‘That went well but never again!’

With Dave's departure, Simon Appleman took over to conduct the band and saw it through two
seasons before family matters and the pressure of work forced him to resign. Simon did not
leave the band totally, however, and turns up for many jobs with his tuba and keeps us all in
step. Below is a picture of Simon with his tuba on the Remembrance Day March as the Band
led the British Legion Parade along Barnet High Street.

Approaching the Church: Remembrance Day 2004
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Following Simon on the Conductor’s podium was James Wolfe who took over the reins of the
band. Joining in 2004, James taught an old band new tricks. It has been reported that on one
occasion, nearly half the band was reported to be watching him! He set out to widen the
repertoire, while keeping the old favourites was determined, one day, to get the band to swing!
The soloists, all friends of his, who give up their time to perform at our concerts, brought a new
dimension to our experience and added to the variety that our concerts offer.

In 2008, the committee introduced an Honorary Lifetime Membership of the band for those
members who had served many years and given good service. Among the first to receive the
award was Geoff Deed, a cornet player with the band for over 50 years. Geoff is one of a family
of players who have served the band well. When I joined the band, I sat between Geoff and his
Brother Peter Deed while Peter’s son, Michael sat behind me. Over to my left, with the clarinets
sat Geoff’s wife Shirley and Michael’s wife, Jane.

The Lifetime Membership Certificate

A Brief History of The Barnet Band

44



Following James on the podium was Roger Greenwood. He knew the band well as he had acted
as assistant conductor for many years and he led the band for over six years. Roger too moved
on, to concentrate on his single reed activities, running, as he does, several local groups.

As we approach the 125th year of our existence, the band is conducted by Matt Smith. Matt, a
professional flautist, conductor and composer has been with the band for over two years and
has managed to keep his sense of humour, despite our efforts to break it. Our repertoire is even
wider than it was in the past and the band enters its next 125 years as more exploratory and
even wider in its membership.

Helping out local charities has always been a focus of the band’s activities and numerous
charities are recorded in the band’s records. Among the earliest of these is the Barnet Victoria
Cottage Hospital which received a donation from the band back in 1908.

Today, it’s The Barnet Band but it wasn’t always so, this is a little recap of the history of our
names:

The Barnet Band’s Names Over the Years

Although the name on the programme may have changed over the years, we hope that any of
the players from the past would feel that we continue to carry on their tradition of helping
charities. Recently, we have assisted The Stroke Association, The Starlight Ward of Barnet
hospital, The Alzheimer’s Society, DabB and, this year, our concert will be in aid of The
Chipping Barnet Day Care Centre for the Elderly.

The band has also carried on the tradition of playing outdoor concerts over the summer and
most of these are within the borough. One of our two most-regular commitments is at Finchley
Nurseries, where we play twice a year and have done so for over twenty years. In recent years,
we have added the RAF Museum to our list of regular visits and have also played there twice a
year over the past few years. In 2013, we will be adding a Christmas appearance to the summer
visits.
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The band has had a long history, surviving its young men going off to the Boer War, the
1914-18 conflict and the Second World War and the vicissitudes of these periods are graphical-
ly chronicled in its archive. With thousands of players passing through its ranks, many of these
being actively engaged in the struggle to keep the band's tradition alive, the band feels it a duty
to ensure that their endeavours were not in vain, in memory of all those players who livened
up the parks and streets of Barnet over the past 125 years.
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The Band at St Marks Church, New Barnet in 2013


